RECEIVED

May 25 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas Carmen

Mullens, Circuit Court Judge

Appeal No. 2023-000227
Case No. 2020-CP-10-01315

Caine Henry,

Appellant,

v.

Medical University of South Carolina,
Medical University of South Carolina
Department of Public Safety, and Kevin
Kerley,

Respondents.

APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF

Caine Henry
7882 Red Birch Circle
North Charleston, SC 29418
(843) 817-2672 cainekh@gmail.com
Pro Se Appellant

North Charleston, South Carolina
May 25th, 2023

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED WHEN IT GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE IT WAS PREMATURE DUE TO APPELLANT NOT HAVING A FULL AND FAIR OPPORTUNITY TO COMPLETE DISCOVERY
2. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THERE WAS NO GENUINE ISSUE AS TO ANY MATERIAL FACT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

03/11/20	Caine Henry (Appellant) brought this action alleging defamation, intentional infliction of emotional distress, civil conspiracy, and negligence against MUSC, MUSC Public Safety and Chief Kevin Kerley (Respondents).
06/22/21	Respondent's Motion to Dismiss was denied.
07/15/21	Appellant Subpoenaed Respondents witness SLED Captain Prodan and any potential evidence.
10/27/21	The court denied Appellant's Motion to Compel Subpoena to SLED. The subpoena needed to be issued from Richland County not Charleston County.
11/05/21	Appellant subpoenaed SLED via Richland County.
05/31/22	Respondents filed for Motion for Summary Judgement.
07/05/22	Appellant filed a Motion to Compel SLED Subpoena in Richland County.
10/27/22	Respondents Motion for Summary Judgement hearing was held in person. Judge Mullens requests proposed Orders from both parties.
01/03/23	Respondents Motion for Summary Judgement was granted.
01/11/23	Appellant filed for a Motion to Reconsider.
01/17/23	Court denied Motion to Reconsider.
02/07/23	Appellant served the Notice of Appeal on Respondents.
As of Present Day	The Appellants, Richland County Motion to Compel Subpoena SLED remains pending.

On 10/27/2021 the first discovery SLED Motion to Compel was denied due to jurisdiction even though SLED is a statewide agency [R. p. 7]. Nonetheless on 11/05/2021 the Appellant submitted a second court issued subpoena this time in Richland County [R. p.133, 134]. SLED did not appear for discovery at the location provided in the subpoena. Respondents on

05/31/2022 motioned for Summary Judgment. After non-compliance with the Nov 2021 discovery SLED subpoena, Appellant filed a second discovery Motion to Compel SLED this time in Richland County on 07/05/2022 [R. p. 65, 66]. The MFSJ was scheduled for 10/27/22. A notice from the courts indicated Memos and Briefs were due a week before the hearing by 10/19/22 per Judge Mullens Law Clerk [R. p. 138]. Along with Appellants MFSJ Brief he submitted the following evidence exhibits:

“Plaintiff submits the following summary judgment evidence in opposition to Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment:
(1) the Affidavit of Tristen Watts and NCPD Body Cam Transcript (Ex. A)
(2) the DEFENDANTS’ ANSWERS TO PLAINTIFF’S REQUEST FOR INTERROGATORIES (Ex. B)
(3) the Affidavit of Tristen Watts and MUSC Chief Kerley / Caine Henry Audio Recording Transcript (Ex. C)
(4) SLED MTC (Ex. D)
(5) MUSC FOIA Requests (Ex. E)
(6) NCPD Body Cam (Ex. F1 & F2)
(7)MUSC Chief Kerley / Caine Henry Audio Recording (Ex. G)” [R. p. 178].

The Appellant raised the issue of the pending discovery MTC of SLED and requested the MFSJ be denied. [R. p. 85 lines 17 - 19]. The MFSJ hearing concluded with The Honorable Judge Mullens requesting proposed Orders from both the [Appellant] and the opposing attorney. The Appellant indicated in his proposed Order that a continuance to address outstanding discovery was a request for the Judge to rule on: “With outstanding discovery which goes to the heart of the claims and multiple disputed facts argued in court, Summary Judgment is inappropriate at this time” [R. p. 327]. The Court granted [Respondents] Motion for Summary Judgment and the court said the following:

1. “Based on the record and undisputed material facts, the [Respondents’] Motion for Summary Judgment is hereby GRANTED.”

2. “Here, the [Appellant] has had the opportunity to engage in discovery but presents no specific evidence that any individual associated with the [Respondents] made defamatory statements and/or libelous statements about the [Appellant].”

3. “In [Appellants] Complaint and in discovery, he has failed to allege and establish a conspiracy for the purpose of harming the [Appellant] or any alleged acts in furtherance of the alleged conspiracy on the part of the [Respondents]”

4. “In addition, even if it were assumed the Defendants had made any statements to SLED about the emails received or the conducting of a welfare check, such statements made by law enforcement in such context are, by their very definition, qualifiedly privileged.” [R. p. 10-15].

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Summary Judgment is appropriate “if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” Rule 56(c), SCRCP. In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all inferences which can be reasonably drawn from the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *Hancock v. Mid-South Management Co., Inc.*, 381 S.C. 326, 329-330, 673 S.E.2d 801 (2009). "In cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment." *Id.* Additionally, in South Carolina, summary judgment should not be granted until the non-moving party has had a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery. *See BPS, Inc. v. Worthy*, 362 S.C. 319, 329-330, 608 S.E.2d 155 (Ct. App. 2005). Summary judgment must not be granted until the opposing party has had a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery. *Baughman v. AT & T*, 306 S.C. 101, 410 S.E.2d 537 (1991). “In general, if the pleadings and the evidentiary matter in support of summary judgment do not establish the absence of a genuine issue of material fact, summary judgment must be denied, even if no opposing evidentiary matter is presented.” *Baird v. Charleston County*, 333 S.C. 519, 511 S.E.2d 69 (1999). Because it is a drastic remedy, summary judgment should be cautiously invoked so no person will be improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues. *Carolina Alliance*, *supra*.” *Murray v. Holnam, Inc.*, 344 S.C. 129 (S.C. Ct. App. 2001). “An appellate court reviews the granting of summary judgment under the same standard applied by the trial court pursuant to Rule 56, SCRCP. *Brockbank*, *supra*; *Wells v. City of*

Lynchburg, [331 S.C. 296](#), [501 S.E.2d 746](#) (Ct.App. 1998).” *Murray v. Holnam, Inc.*, 344 S.C. 129, 138 (S.C. Ct. App. 2001)

FACTS

I Caine Henry (Appellant) sent some trauma revealing emails to the Medical University of South Carolina (MUSC) and to the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (SLED) regarding the post traumatic symptoms I experienced from whistleblowing and arrest by MUSC. The emails were sent in March 2019. [R. p. 159-163]. SLED Captain Michael Prodan had a phone call with Captain John Plitsch of MUSC. [R. p. 236 #15 & #16] A welfare check was conducted March 15, 2019. On March 29, 2019, I had an in-person discussion with MUSC Police Chief Kevin Kerley which I recorded. After discussing issues with Chief Kerley I realized there were many disputed facts regarding the welfare check. Chief Kerley quoted to me, that I told North Charleston Police that I was trying to scare MUSC into a grievance hearing [R. p. 79-80]. Chief Kerley also stated I was at home laughing about what I had done. *Id.* Knowing these alleged facts to be false I ordered the Body Cam footage of the welfare check from the North Charleston Police Department (NCPD) to discern fact from fiction. The following facts were realized after viewing and transcribing the Body Cam footage:

(SLED Captain Prodan ordered a welfare check on me on 03/15/2019. Captain Prodan contacted the Charleston Mental Health Mobile Crisis Unit to conduct the welfare check. North Charleston Police were called. Cami and Lisa with Charleston Mental Health were told not to call the Appellant. It was a “surprise”. North Charleston Officer Darius Rivers arrives at the scene down the street from my home. Officer Rivers informs Cami and her partner Lisa that I was going to “shoot anyone that came to my door including law enforcement”. This was according to NCPD call notes and a discussion with Officer Rivers supervisor. Officer Rivers waited for back-up. Cami and Officer Rivers concluded this was a not a good idea from management. Lisa tells unknown caller “This person has

threatened to shoot any officer on scene”. Officer Rivers tells Officer 2 that “he’s threatened to shoot any law enforcement officer or anybody on scene” Officer 2: “might not be a good idea to stand out here if he’s threatened to shoot people, so we got to move”) [R. p. 74-76]

The Body Cam footage provided important information about the welfare check that contradicted some of the allegations made by Chief Kerley. However, it's important to remember that situations like this can be complex and nuanced, and there may be additional information. This deadly situation luckily ended without fatal harm. I never indicated I wanted to harm anyone or shoot anyone that came to my home [R. p. 159-163].

SLED has objected to two subpoenas [R. p. 128, 133]. There is reason to believe that there is additional information that would support Appellants claims, and that this information is in the possession of SLED. [R. p. 165]. The additional information would probably prompt an amended complaint. An amended complaint would allow Appellant to update the court on the new information and provide additional details to support Appellant claims. I have been prevented from getting facts from SLED and Captain Prodan a witness to the Respondents for quite some time now. The surprising facts here suggest this was a swatting attempt disguised as a welfare check [R. p. 25 #11]. I feel frustrated and want to see accountability for any misconduct or abuse of power by law enforcement agencies. It's important for law enforcement to operate with integrity and to be held accountable when they fail to do so.

ARGUMENT

1. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED WHEN IT GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE IT WAS PREMATURE DUE TO APPELLANT NOT HAVING A FULL AND FAIR OPPORTUNITY TO COMPLETE DISCOVERY.

At the time of and prior to MFSJ there was a pending Discovery MTC: [R. p.65, 66]. As of present day, the Discovery MTC is still awaiting a hearing. In *Dawkins v. Fields*, 354 S.C. 58, 580 S.E.2d 433 (S.C. 2003), The South Carolina Supreme Court rejected Dawkins' "argument that summary judgment was premature because they did not have a full and fair opportunity for discovery." A party claiming summary judgment is premature because they have not been provided a full and fair opportunity to conduct discovery must advance a good reason why the time was insufficient under the facts of the case, and why further discovery would uncover additional relevant evidence and create a genuine issue of material fact. *Id.* The Appellant addressed both time and additional relevant evidence in his MFSJ Brief:

“[Appellant] subpoenaed SLED on 07/15/2021 for information related to the agent’s pending testimony. SLED did not comply with subpoena. [Appellant] filed a Motion to Compel SLED for subpoena information crucial to the [Appellants] claims in Charleston County on 8/11/2021. Then a MTC was filed in SLED’s home county Richland. The MTC was filed on 7/5/2022 in Richland County and is still pending a hearing (SLED MTC (Ex. D))” [R. p. 180].

The Appellants MFSJ Brief exhibit further elaborates on additional relevant evidence that would have come from further discovery.

“[Appellant] believes that information contained in this phone call and other information in SLED’s possession are likely relevant to [Appellant’s] claims and or the defenses in this case and at least are discoverable. [Appellant's] case revolves around the communications between SLED and MUSC” [R. p. 278].

In order to argue that summary judgment is premature due to insufficient discovery, a party must provide a good reason why the time allowed for discovery was insufficient under the specific circumstances of the case and why further discovery would uncover additional relevant evidence that would create a genuine issue of material fact. The South Carolina Supreme Court has held that such arguments are fact-specific and depend on the individual circumstances of each case.

Discovery plays a critical role in our legal system, allowing parties to gather and exchange relevant information that can assist in the resolution of a case. It is through discovery that parties can uncover crucial facts and evidence that may not have been previously known, and it is essential to ensuring a fair and just outcome.

The pending subpoenas and motions to compel are crucial in obtaining the necessary information related to SLED's testimony and evidence. Without this information, it may be difficult to uncover the truth and ensure justice is served. The court will ultimately decide whether further discovery is necessary and relevant to this case.

It goes without saying that the pandemic has impacted the way Courts and parties have adjudicated matters and has affected timing. Had there been no pandemic surely Appellants discovery Motion to Compel would have been heard timely and prior to the hearing for MFSJ.

Summary judgment is not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law. *Brockbank v. Best Capital Corp.*, 341 S.C. 372, 379, 534 S.E.2d 688, 692 (2000). Summary judgment is a drastic remedy, which should be cautiously invoked so that no person will be inappropriately deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues. *Baughman v. AT & T*, 306 S.C. 101, 410 S.E.2d 537 (1991). This means, among other things, that summary judgment must not be granted until the opposing party has had a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery. Appellant was not dilatory in seeking discovery on issue of causation but was reasonably diligent as evident by the two subpoena's and two Motions to compel. *Id.* Appellant has demonstrated a likelihood that further discovery will uncover additional evidence relevant to the issues and that Appellant is not merely engaged in a "fishing expedition." *Dawkins v. Fields*, 354 S.C. 58, 69, 580 S.E.2d 433, 439 (2003). The Appellant has been diligently seeking SLED discovery since 07/15/2021, MFSJ was premature due to an outstanding discovery MTC and thus was not full and fair discovery.

Based on the arguments presented, the Appellant is asserting that summary judgment was prematurely granted in their case due to the lack of a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery. The Appellant has filed two court-issued subpoenas and two Motions to Compel for urgent and crucial information related to SLED's pending testimony, communication, and evidence. The Appellant argues that further discovery is desirable to clarify the application of the law and that summary judgment is a drastic remedy that should not be granted until the opposing party has had a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery. The Appellant contends that he was reasonably diligent in seeking discovery on the issue of causation and that further discovery will likely uncover additional relevant evidence.

2. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THERE WAS NO GENUINE ISSUE AS TO ANY MATERIAL FACT

MUSC and SLED had a phone call regarding the appellant then someone informed the North Charleston Police that appellant would shoot anyone that came to his home. “The [Appellant] contended the North Charleston Police Department was also contacted and allegedly falsely and “maliciously” told that [Appellant] was armed and threatening to shoot anyone that came to the door or a public official. Comp. ¶10.” [R. p.25 #10]

The court concluded that SLED and MUSC Public Safety communications are privileged: “In addition, even if it were assumed the Defendants had made any statements to SLED about the emails received or the conducting of a welfare check, such statements made by law enforcement in such context are, by their very definition, qualifiedly privileged.” [R. p. 12, 13 last sentence].

A fact is material if its truth or falsity affects whether the plaintiff wins or loses the case. There is at least one material fact here born in the Appellants Complaint which remains disputed: with or without malice.

“A qualified privilege does not prevent liability for defamation where the statement is made with actual malice. Eubanks v. Smith, 292 S.C. 57, 354 S.E.2d 898 (1987). See also Bell, supra (in defamation action, if defendant proves qualified privilege, plaintiff may not recover unless he overcomes privilege by proving actual malice).” Murray v. Holnam, Inc., 344 S.C. 129 (S.C. Ct. App. 2001)

The privilege is abused and lost, leaving the speaker unprotected, when either of following situations occur: "(1) a statement [is] made in good faith that goes beyond the scope of what is reasonable under the duties and interests involved or (2) a statement [is] made in reckless

disregard of the victim's rights." *Fountain v. First Reliance Bank*, 398 S.C. 434 (S.C. 2012). If the statement was true, that I said I would shoot anyone on scene then this would be in the scope of law enforcement duties and interests. Was there a clear threat from the Appellant that he would "shoot anyone on scene"? [R. p. 75 lines 41-1] The meaning is plain and simple: he will shoot anyone on scene. That is reckless, false and malicious. We must hold law enforcement to higher standards when it comes to life and death matters if there is to be public trust. The respondents have not presented or produced any statement that the Appellant made that resembles he'd shoot anyone on scene. If you're a third-party Officer as was the NCPD in this situation is your gun loaded and ready to deal with the potential active shooter that another law enforcement agency has warned you about? Law enforcement must operate without recklessness and malice and when infractions occur, they must be examined for root causes.

(“Where the occasion gives rise to a qualified privilege, there is a prima facie presumption to rebut the inference of malice, and the burden is on the plaintiff to show actual malice or that the scope of the privilege has been exceeded. *Fulton v. Atlantic Coast Line R. Co.*, [220 S.C. 287](#), [67 S.E.2d 425](#) (1951); 53 C.J.S. *Libel and Slander* § 79 (1987). To prove actual malice, the plaintiff must show that the defendant was activated by ill will in what he did, with the design to causelessly and wantonly injure the plaintiff; or that the statements were published with such recklessness as to show a conscious disregard for plaintiffs rights. *Holtzscheiter, supra.*”) *Swinton Creek Nursery v. Edisto Farm Credit*, 334 S.C. 469 (S.C. 1999).

A welfare check without the (he'll shoot anyone on scene) part would have been fit and proper and rightfully considered qualified privileged. It's clear from all the Respondent's incident reports of the Appellant in the past 13 years that the ill will from past circumstances again played