**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

RECEIVED

JUN 07 2023

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Charleston County
Court of Common Pleas

Carmen T. Mullens, Circuit Judge

Case No. 2020-CP-10-01315
Appeal No. 2023-000227

Caine Henry,

Appellant,

v.

Medical University of South Carolina,
Medical University of South Carolina
Department of Public Safety, and
Kevin Kerley,

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

HOOD LAW FIRM, LLC

172 Meeting Street
Post Office Box 1508
Charleston, SC 29402
Ph: (843) 577-4435 / Fax: (843) 722-1630

s/ Brian E. Johnson

Brian E. Johnson (SC #76103)
brian.johnson@hoodlaw.com
Lisa B. Bisso (SC #105258)
lisa.bisso@hoodlaw.com

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

ARGUMENT

I. IDENTIFICATION OF THE ISSUES RAISED ON APPEAL

Rule 208(b)(1)(B) of our appellate rules, provide that an appellant's brief must contain: "A statement of each of the issues presented for review. The statement shall be concise and direct as to each issue, and may be stated in question form. Broad general statements may be disregarded by the appellate court. Ordinarily, no point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of the issues on appeal." Thus, as a threshold matter, it is proper and necessary to identify/clarify the issues that Plaintiff is raising in his appeal.

By its order, the Circuit Court grants summary judgment on all four claims: defamation; conspiracy; outrage; and negligence. Plaintiff's Statement of Issue does not specify his challenge to any particular claim. However, from his argument it appears that he is only challenging the grant of summary judgment on the defamation claim. Herron v. Century BMW, 395 S.C. 461, 466, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011) ("When an issue is not specifically set out in the statements of issues, the appellate court may nevertheless consider the issue if it is *reasonably clear* from an appellant's arguments."); Greenville Bistro, LLC v. Greenville Cnty., 435 S.C. 146, 164, 866 S.E.2d 562, 171–575 (2021).

Since the Plaintiff's argument in his brief does not discuss any error about the dismissal of his claims for conspiracy, outrage/intentional infliction of emotion distress, or negligence, any issues as to those claims are not preserved. However, the Defendants maintain that the Circuit Court properly granted summary judgment on each and all of those claims for the reasons stated in the order. On the negligence claim, the Plaintiff presented no authority to support the proposition that the Defendants owed any legal duty of care to investigate his email "concerns," and even if there was some legal duty, the Plaintiff has not established any act or omission on the

part of the Defendants related to the welfare check conducted by the NCPD and the Charleston County Mental Health Mobile Crisis Unit. As a matter of law, the claim for intentional infliction of emotion distress is barred by the explicit terms of the Tort Claims Act, § 15-78-30(f) which provides that: “Loss’ ... does not include the intentional infliction of emotional harm.” Likewise, the civil conspiracy claim fails, as a matter of law, because Plaintiff has failed to allege and establish any alleged acts in furtherance of the alleged conspiracy on the part of the Defendants; and in any event, as cited by the Circuit Court, under the intracorporate conspiracy doctrine, “an agreement between or among agents of the same legal entity, when the agents act in their official capacities, is not an unlawful conspiracy.” Ziglar v. Abbasi, 582 U.S. 120, 153 (2017); see also Painter’s Mill Grille, LLC v. Brown, 716 F.3d. 342, 353 (4th Cir. 2013) (“The intracorporate conspiracy doctrine recognizes that a corporation cannot conspire with its agents because the agents’ acts are the corporation’s own); McMillan v. Oconee Mem’l Hosp., Inc., 367 S.C. 559, 565, 626 S.E.2d 884, 887 (2006), overruled on other grounds by Paradis v. Charleston Cnty. Sch. Dist., 433 S.C. 562, 861 S.E.2d 774 (2021) (“A civil conspiracy cannot be found to exist when the acts alleged are those of employees or directors, in their official capacity, conspiring with the corporation.”).

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO THE DEFENDANTS ON THE DEFAMATION CLAIM.

The elements of defamation include: (1) a false and defamatory statement concerning another; (2) an unprivileged publication to a third party; (3) fault on the part of the publisher; and (4) either actionability of the statement irrespective of special harm or the existence of special harm caused by the publication. McNeil v. S.C. Dep’t of Corr., 404 S.C. 186, 195, 743 S.E.2d 843, 848 (Ct. App. 2013); *see also* Erickson v. Jones St. Publishers, L.L.C., 368 S.C. 444, 465, 629 S.E.2d 653, 664 (2006).

A communication made in good faith on any subject matter in which the person communicating has an interest or duty is qualifiedly privileged if made to a person with a corresponding interest or duty even though it contains matter which, without this privilege, would be actionable. Murray v. Holnam, Inc., 344 S.C. 129, 141, 544 S.E.2d 743, 749 (Ct. App. 2001). “In determining whether or not the communication was qualifiedly privileged, regard must be had to the occasion and to the relationship of the parties. When one has an interest in the subject matter of a communication, and the person (or persons) to whom it is made has a corresponding interest, every communication honestly made, in order to protect such common interest, is privileged by reason of the occasion.” Id. (quoting Bell v. Bank of Abbeville, 208 S.C. 409, 38 S.E.2d 641, 643 (1946)).

The Defendants have denied that they made the statement found in the NCPD case notes, and in the alternative, asserted the privilege as an affirmative defense. As the Circuit Court correctly found, the Plaintiff has no evidence that any individual associated with the MUSC Defendants made the allegedly defamatory statement found in the NCPD case notes about the threat posed by the Plaintiff. After learning that it was SLED, not MUSC, that requested the wellness check, the Plaintiff has shifted his claims to accuse MUSC of conveying threats to SLED which were then relayed to NCPD. However, he has no evidence to support his speculation. In addition, even if it were assumed, for the sake of argument, that the Defendants had made any statement about Plaintiff making such threats of violence, any statements to SLED about the emails received or the conducting of a welfare check, such statements made in the context of a wellness check (reasonably prompted by the emails) are qualifiedly privileged.

Plaintiff argues on appeal that summary judgment was premature because he has a pending motion to compel SLED to produce information from its investigatory files. When a plaintiff

opposes summary judgment on the ground that discovery is not complete, the plaintiff must submit an affidavit that explains why not discovery is not complete and what the plaintiff expects to find that is relevant to proving his claims. Rule 56(f), SCRPC. However, the fact that a plaintiff has not completed discovery will not preclude summary judgment if the evidence sought could not create a genuine issue of material fact and/or the law provides dispositive grounds on the undisputed facts already proven. *See Guinan v. Tenet Healthsystems of Hilton Head, Inc.*, 383 S.C. 48, 54–55, 677 S.E.2d 32, 36 (Ct. App. 2009) (plaintiff failed to demonstrate further discovery would uncover additional relevant evidence or create a genuine issue of material fact).

The court filings show that the Plaintiff made a FOIA request and attempted to subpoena SLED investigatory records, but SLED objected to providing any information about an ongoing SLED threat assessment file. [ROA 298; Plaintiff Ex. D p. 21– Subpoena Objection, dated 11/19/21.] The Plaintiff first filed a motion to compel in Charleston County circuit Court which was denied. [ROA 7; Order, dated 10/27/21.] Nine months later, after the Defendants had moved for summary judgment, the Plaintiff refiled his motion to compel in Richland County on July 5, 2022. [ROA 278; 2022CP4003387.] At the time the motion for summary judgment was heard, the Richland County motion was still pending.

Plaintiff argues that summary judgment is premature because there is reason to believe that SLED has information that would support his claims that MUSC made false accusations that he was threatening to shoot anyone who would come to his door. On this point, it seems necessary to apprise the exact nature of the Plaintiff's claims in this action to see that the evidence he seeks will not support his defamation claim. First, the Court should look beyond the Plaintiff's rambling complaints about decade long employment grievances and criminal charges which are not the subject of this current legal action. It also is important to ignore his inflammatory references to

the allegedly armed and dangerous tone of the wellness check because the body cam recording disproves his depiction of the interaction between Plaintiff and the NCPD/Crisis Unit and because he has not named NCPD or County Mental Health as defendants to assert any claims as to their actions in conducting the wellness check.

In any event, the body camera recording shows a calm, civilized conversation at the Plaintiff's doorway with no evidence of any conflict or danger. The NCPD officer waited for backup as a precaution, but there is no evidence that the NCPD officers ever drew their guns. The Crisis Unit representatives asked a series of questions to ascertain the Plaintiff's wellness, but they also indulged the Plaintiff's ramblings about his contentious 10-year history of complaints against MUSC for allegedly wrongfully denying him a grievance hearing⁵ and allegedly making unsubstantiated criminal charges of larceny.

As the Plaintiff's claim has evolved during this litigation, such that it now appears to be one for defamation in regards to a notation in the NCPD case notes that cautioned that Plaintiff had threatened to shoot any law enforcement that would come to his door. The evidence indicates that SLED Agent Prodan, who had been copied on all those disturbing emails, requested the wellness check. There is no evidence to give any credence to the Plaintiff's conjecture that MUSC was somehow behind the statement found in the NCPD case notes. And, the case note about the threat was only discussed by those who needed the information to safely conduct the wellness check. Ultimately, the Circuit Court properly granted summary judgment to the MUSC Defendants.

⁵ The transcript of the discussion with Chief Kerley indicates that the grievance proceeding was dismissed because the Plaintiff did not appear for the hearing. [ROA 245; Plaintiff Ex. C 006.]

ADDITIONAL SUSTAINING GROUNDS

III. THE CLAIMS AGAINST THE MUSC DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY AND ITS CHIEF KEVIN KERLEY CANNOT BE SUSTAINED UNDER THE TORT CLAIMS, §15-78-70.

The Tort Claims Act is the exclusive remedy for any tort committed by a government employee, and the proper party to a claim is the government entity: “[W]hen bringing an action against a governmental entity under the provisions of this chapter, [the plaintiff] shall name as a party defendant only the agency or political subdivision for which the employee was acting.” S.C. Code §15-78-70; see also Faile v. S.C. Dep’t of Juv. Just., 350 S.C. 315, 329–30, 566 S.E.2d 536, 543 (2002) (“only the entity employing the employee whose act gives rise to the claim may be sued.”)

In their Motion to Dismiss, the Defendants sought dismissal of the Department of Public Safety on the ground that: “Plaintiff also names the Medical University of South Carolina Department of Public Safety; however, this is not a distinct entity and falls under Defendant Medical University of South Carolina. Thus, Defendant Medical University of South Carolina Department of Public Safety must be dismissed from the Complaint.” [ROA 42; Motion, p. 1.] In their Motion to Dismiss, the Defendants also sought dismissal of Defendant Kevin Kerley, who is the Chief of the MUSC Department of Public Safety on the ground that as an employee of MUSC, he is immune of the provisions of §15-78-70. [ROA 49; Motion, p. 8.] The Defendants/Respondents submit that the grant for summary judgment to the MUSC Department of Public Safety and to Kevin Kerley, as Chief of the Department, should be affirmed on these additional sustaining grounds.

CONCLUSION

Wherefore, based on the foregoing, the Respondents respectfully submit that the Order granting summary judgment should be affirmed.